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VIA HAND DELIVERY

The Honorable Bruce D. White, Chief Judge
Judges’ Chambers - 5th Floor
Circuit Court of Fairfax County
- 4110 Chain Bridge Road
Fairfax, Virginia 22030

Re: John C. Depp, II v. Amber Laura Heard, Civil Action No. CL-2019-0002911
Dear Chief Judge White: '

On March 26, 2019, Defendant Amber Laura Heard, through counsel, submitted a letter
requesting special assignment of this case to one judge. Pursuant to Part D, Section 2.18 of the
Circuit Court Practice Manual, Plaintiff Johnny Depp hereby opposes the assignment of a single
judge to this case. No “special circumstances™ exist in this case that would justify the Court’s
departing from its standard policy not to pre-assign cases.

As your Honor knows, Section 2.18 of the Circuit Court Practice Manual providés as
follows:

If the attorneys believe that the issues in the case are unusually complex or
that numerous substantive motions will be heard pre-trial, and as a result it
would be beneficial to the court and the parties if one judge were assigned to hear
all matters in the case, counsel may so advise the Chief Judge by joint letter. If
the parties cannot agree, a request may be made by letter from counsel for those
parties seeking the request, with other counsel responding by letter, so that the
Chief Judge will be able to consider the positions of all counsel before deciding
whether to grant the request. If such a request is made, counsel should fully set
out why the case requires pre-assignment, as it is the policy of the Court not to
pre-assign cases, absent special circumstances. The Chief Judge or his
designee will respond to the request. (emphasis added)

There is nothing “unusually complex” about this case. Attached as Exhibit 1 for your

Honor’s benefit is a courtesy copy of the Complaint, which alleges three counts of defamation.
The factual and legal issues in this case are quite simple: Ms. Heard knew when she wrote her
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op-ed that Mr. Depp never abused her and that her domestic abuse allegations against him were
false. Her false allegations now have been disproven conclusively by multiple witnesses and
surveillance videos. Police officers, who responded immediately after Ms. Heard claimed that
Mr. Depp struck her with a cell phone, hit her, and destroyed his penthouse, testified under oath
that when they arrived Ms. Heard had no injuries and there was no damage to the penthouse.
People who worked in the building where the penthouse was located testified under oath that
they saw Ms. Heard up close multiple times in the days after the supposed attack and her face
was not injured. Her facial injuries only appeared, according to the testimony of these neutral
third-party witnesses, on the very day that Ms. Heard first publicly accused Mr, Depp of
domestic abuse—six days after the alleged incident and six days after Mr. Depp left the country.
This eyewitness testimony is corroborated by surveillance videos that captured images of an
uninjured Ms. Heard in the days after the supposed attack.

Of course, this Court routinely handles defamation claims (including those in which the
Court exercises personal jurisdiction over nonresident defendants like Ms. Heard), and this case
is less complex, with fewer parties, than most. See, e.g., Exhibit 2, a copy of this Court’s
Opinion Letter in Massey Energy Co. v. United Mine Workers, et al. (finding that the exercise of
personal jurisdiction over nonresident defendants in defamation action comported with due
process and Virginia’s long-arm statute). The fact that the parties here are well known does not
change the calculus or render the case complex.

Warm regards,

Benjamin G. Chew
VSB # 29113

cc:  Brittany Whitesell Biles, Esq.
Adam R. Waldman, Esq.
Timothy J. McEvoy, Esq.
Sean P. Roche, Esq.
Eric M. George, Esq.
Richard A. Schwartz, Esq.

Enclosures
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VIRGINIA: CIVIL INTAKE
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF FAIRFAX COUNEM MAR -| PHI2: 1,8
) CLERR, CIRCUIT SOURT
John C. Depp, I, )) FAIRFAX. VA
Plaintiff, ) 02911
V. ) Civil Acti(% Qofl 9 . :
)
Amber Laura Heard, )
: )
Defendant. )
COMPLAINT

Plaintiff John C. Depp, 1I, a/k/a Johnny Depp, in support of his Complaint against
Defendant Amber Laura Heard hereby states the following:

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. This defamation action arises from an op-ed published in the Washington Post by
actress Amber Heard (“Ms. Heard”). In the op-ed, Ms. Heard purported to write from the
perspective of “a public figure representing domestic abuse” and claimed that she *“felt the full
force of our culture’s wrath for women who speak out” when she “spoke up against sexual
violence.”

2, Although she never identified him by name, the op-ed p]ainl‘y was about (and
other media consistently characterized it as being about) Ms. Heard’s purported victimization
after she publicly accused her former husband, Johnny Depp (“Mr. Depp™), of domestic abuse in
2016, when she appeared in court with an apparently battered face and obtained a temporary
restraining order against Mr. Depp on May 27, 20 16. The op-ed depended on the central premise
that Ms. Heard was a domestic abuse victim and that Mr, Depp perpetrated domestic violence

against her.



3. The op-ed’s clear implication that Mr. Depp is a domestic abuser is categorically
and demonstrably false. Mr. Depp never abused Ms. Heard. Her allegations against him were
false when they were made in 2016, They were part of an elaborate hoax to generate positive
publicity for Ms, Heard and advance her career, Ms, Heard’s false allegations against Mr. Depp
have been conclusively refuted by two separate responding police officers, a litany of neutral
third-party witnesses, and 87 newly obtained surveillance camera videos. With a prior arrest for
violent domestic abuse and having confessed under oath to a series of violent attacks on Mr.
Depp, Ms. Heard is not a victim of domestic abuse; she is a perpetrator. Ms, Heard violently
abused Mr. Depp, just as she was caught and arrested for violently abusing her former domestic
partner.

4, ’ Ms, Heard’s implication in her op-ed that Mr. Depp is a domestic abuser is not
only demonstrably false, it is defamatory per se. Ms. Heard falsely implied that Mr. Depp was
guilty of domestic violence, which is a crime involving moral turpitude. Moreover, Ms. Heard’s
false implication prejudiced Mr. Depp in his career as a film actor and incalculably {and
immediately) damaged his reputation as a public figure.

5, Unsurprisingly, Mr. Depp’s reputation and career were devastated when Ms.
Heard first a;:cuscd him of domestic violence on May 27, 2016. Ms. Heard’s hoax allegations
were timed to coincide with the day that Mr. Depp’s film, Alice Through the Looking Glass, was
released in theatres. Hexl op-ed, with its false implication that she was a victim of domestic
violence at the hands of Mr. Depp, brought new damage to Mr. Depp’s reputation and career.
Mr, Depp lost movie roles and faced public scorn. Ms. Heard, an actress herself, knew precisely
the effect that her op-ed would have on Mr. Depp. And indeed, just four days after Ms. Heard’s

op-ed was first published on December 18, 2018, Disney announced on December 22, 2018 that



it was dropping Mr. Depp from his leading role as Captain Jack Sparrow—a role that he
created—in the multi-billion-dollar-earning Pirates of the Caribbean franchise, ‘

6. Ms. Heard published her op-ed with actual malice. She knew that Mr. Depp did
not abuse her and that the domestic abuse allegations that she made against him in 2016 were
false. She knew that the testimony and photographic “evidence” that she presented to the cour-t
and the supporting sworn testimony provided by her two friends were false and perjurious. Ms.
Heard knew that the truth was that she violently abused Mr, Depp—ijust as she violently abused
her prior domestic partner, which led to her arrest and booking for domestic violence, as well as
a night in jail and a mug shot. Ms. Heard revived her false allegations against Mr. Depp in the
op-ed to generate positive publicity for herself and to promote her new movie Aquaman, which
premiered across the United States and in Virginia only three days after the op-ed was first
published.

7. Mr. Depp brings this defamation action to clear his name. By this civil lawsuit,
Mr. Depp seeks to restore ﬁis reputation and establish Ms. Heard’s legal liability for continuing
her campaign to push a false narrative that he committed domestic violence against her. Mr.
Depp seeks an award of compensatory damages for the reputational harm that he suffered as a
result of Ms, Heard’s op-ed, with its false and defamatory implication that Mr. Depp was a
domestic abuser. Further, given the willfulness and maliciousness that Ms. Heard demonstrated
when she knowingly published the op-ed with the false implication that Mr. Depp violently
abused her, Mr. Depp also seeks an award of punitive damages.

PARTIES
8. Plaintiff John C. Depp is an individual and a resident of the State of California.

For decades, he has been one of the most prominent actors in Hollywood. Mr. Depp was married



to Ms. Heard for approximately 15 months between February 1, 2015 and May 23, 2016, They
had no children together. Mr. Depp was the target of Ms. Heard’s false and defamatory op-ed in
the Washington Post.

9. Defendant Amber Laura Heard is an individual and a resident of the State of
California. Ms. Heard is an actress and Mr. Depp’s former wife. Ms. Heard authored and
published the defamatory op-ed in the Washington Post that falsely implied that Mr, Depp
abused her during their marriage.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

10.  This Court has specific personal jurisdiction over Defendant under Virginia’s
long-arm statute, Va. Code § 8.01-328.1, as well as under the Due Process Clause of the U.S.
Constitution, because, among other things, the causes of action in this Complaint arise from
Defendant transacting business in this Commonwealth and causing tortious injury by an act or
omission in this Common‘wealth. Moreover, exercising jurisdiction would not offend traditional
notions of fair play and substantial justice because Defendant could have — indeed should have
— reasonably foreseen being ﬁaled into a Virginia court to account for her false and defamatory
op-ed which Wi-].S pﬁblished: in a newspaper that is printed in Springfield, Virginia; in an online
edition of the newspaper that is created on a digital platform in Virginia and routed through
servers in Virginia; in a newspaper that has wide circulation in Virginia and even publishes a
Virginia local edition in which the false and defamatory op-ed appeared; and in a newspaper that
maintains two physical offices in Virginia, Further, Defendant published the false and
defamatory op-ed to promote her new movie which was in Virginia theatres for viewing by

Virginia audiences.



11, Venue is proper in this circuit under Va. Code § 8.01-262 because the causes of
action asserted herein arose in this Circuit.
FACTS

Ms. Heard Wrote An Op-Ed In The Washington Post That Implies That She Was A Victim -
Of Domestic Abuse At The Hands Of Mr. Depp

12.  Mr. Depp has appeared in more than 50 films over the last three decades. He has
worldwide name recognition and has played a diverse array of iconic roles, including Edward
Scissorhands, Willy Wonka, Captain Jack Sparrow, The Mad Hatter, Grindelwald, John
Dellinger, and Whitey Bulger. His movies have grossed over $10 billion dollars in the United
States and around the world. He has won the People’s Choice Award 14 times.

13.  Mr. Depp married Ms. Heard on February 1, 2015, The two met when Ms, Heard
was cast in Mr. Depp’s film The Rum Diary.

14.  The marriage lasted only 15 months.

15. Unbeknownst to Mr. Depp, no later than one month after his marriage to Ms.
Heard, she was spending time in a new relationship with Tesla and Space-X founder, Elon Musk.
Only one calendar month after Mr. Depp and Ms. Heard were married—while Mr. Depp was out
of the country filming in March 2015—Eastern Columbia Building personnel testified that Ms.
Heard received Musk “late at night” at Mr. Depp’s penthouse. Specifically, Ms. Heard asked
staff at the Eastern Columbia Building to give her “friend Elon™ access to the building’s parking
garage and the penthouse elevator “late at night,” and they testified that they did so. Building
staff would then see Ms. Heard’s “friend Elon” leaving the building the next morning. Musk’s
first appearance in Mr, Depp’s penthouse occurred shortly after Ms, Heard threw a vodka bottle

at Mr. Depp in Australia, when she learned that Mr. Depp wanted the coupie to enter into a post-



nuptial agreement concerning assets in their marriage. Ms. Heard’s violently aimed projectile
virtually severed Mr, Depp’s middle finger on his right hand and shattered the bones.

16,  Mr. Depp’s marriage to Ms. Heard came to an end in May 2016. After Mr. Depp
indicated to Ms. Heard that he wanted to leave the marriage, Ms. Heard lured Mr. Depp to his
penthouse to pick up his personal items. Unaware that members of Mr. Depp’s security team
(including an 18-year veteran of the Los Angeles County éherriﬁ’s Department) were mere feet
away, Ms. Heard falsely began yelling “stop hitting me Johnny.” The interaction culminated
with Ms. Heard making false allegations that Mr, Depp struck her with a cell phone, hit her, and
destroyed the penthouse. There were multiple eyewitnesses to this hoax. Ms. Heard’s friend:
then called the police, who arrived promptly. Upon their arrival, Ms. Heard refused to cooperate
with police or make any claims that she had been injured or assaulted, and two domestic abuse
trained police officers testified that after close inspection of Ms. Heard and the penthouses, they
observed no injury to Ms, Heard or damage to the penthouses. But then, six days later, Ms.
Heard presented herself to the world with a battered face as she publicly and falsely accused Mr.
Depp of domestic violence and obtained a restraining order against him, based on false testimony -
that she and her friends provided.

17. Now there are newly obtained surveillance camera videos, depositions, and other |
evidence that conclusively. disprove Ms. Heard’s false allegations. Although much of this
exculpatory evidence was collected by certain members Mr. Depp’s then-legal team in 20186, it
only recently came into Mr, Depp’s possession, as it had been hidden from him for a period of
years.

18.  Ms, Heard later withdrew her false domestic violence allegations and dismissed

the restraining order. She and Mr. Depp finalized their divorce in January 2017.



19.  Despite dismissing the restraining order and withdrawing the domestic abuse
allegations, Ms. Heard (and her surrogates) have continuously and repeatedly referred to her in
publications, public service announcements, social media postings, speeches, and interviews as a
victim of domestic violence, and a “survivor,” always with the clear implication that Mr, Depp
was her supposed abuser.

20.  Most recently, in December 2018, Ms. Heard published an op-ed in the
Washington Pbsr that falsely implied that Ms, Heard was a victim of domestic violence at the
hands of Mr. Depp. The op-ed was first published on the Washington Post’s website on
December 18, 2018 with the title, “Amber Heard: I spoke up against sexual violence — and
faced our culture’s wrath. This has to change.” The op-ed appeared again on December 19,
2018 in the Washington Post’s hardcopy edition under the title, “A Transformative Moment For
Women.” Except for their titles, the online and hard copy versions of the op-ed were
substantively identical and are referred to collectively herein as the “Sexual Violence” op-ed.

21.  The “Sexual Violence” op-ed’s central thesis was that Ms. Heard was a victim of
domestic violence and faced personal and professional repercussions because she “spoke up”
against “sexual violence” by “a powerful man.”

22.  Although Mr. Depp was never identified by name in the “S;:xual Violence” op-ed,
Ms. Heard makes cleat, based on the foundations of the false accusations that she made against
Mr. Depp in court filings and subsequently reiterated in the press for years, that she was talking
about Mr. Depp and the domestic abuse allegations that she made against him in May 2016. Ms.
Heard wrote:

s “Amber Heard: I spoke up against sexual violence — and faced our culture’s wrath.
That has to change.”



s “Then two years ago [the precise time frame of her allegations against and divorce
from Mr. Depp], | became a public figure representing domestic abuse, and I felt the
full force of our culture’s wrath for women who speak out.”

o “T had the rare vantage point of seeing, in real time, how institutions protect men
accused of abuse.”

e “I write this as a woman who had to change my phone number weekly because I was
getting death threats. For months, I rarely left my apartment, and when I did, I was
" pursued by camera drones and photographers on foot, on motorcycles and in cars.
Tabloid outlets that posted pictures of me spun them in a negative light. I felt as
though I was on trial in the court of public opinion — and my life and livelihood
depended on myriad judgments far beyond my control.”
23,  As these statements reflect, the whole op-ed proceeds from the notion—presented
as an unassailable truth—that Ms, Heard was the victim of domestic violence at the hands of Mr.
‘Depp. She was not. Ms. Heard is not a victim of domestic violence, and Mr, Depp is not a
perpetrator of domestic violence. And the centerpiece of Ms. Heard’s attention-seeking hoax—
her claim that Mr. Depp savagely injured her face by throwing her own iPhone at her from point
blank range as hard as he could and then continued to beat her face with other “appendages of his
body” on the evening of May 21, 2016, which caused her to have the battered face that she first
presented to the court and the world on May 27, 2016—was a poorly executed lie that
nevertheless has endured for nearly three years. The statements in her “Sexual Violence” op-ed
that imply otherwise are false and defamatory.
Ms. Heard Was Not A Victim Of Domestic Violence: She Was A Perpetrator
24.  Long before Ms. Heard became a self-described “public figure representing
domestic abuse” based on her false domestic violence allegations against Mr. Depp, Ms, Heard

was in an abusive relationship. But Ms. Heard was not the victim in that relationship. She was

the abuser.



25, On September 14, 2009, police officers at the Seattle-Tacoma International
Airport witnessed Ms. Heard physically assault her then-domestic pariner, Tasya‘ van Ree. Ms.
Heard grabbed Ms. van Ree by the arm, hit Ms. van Ree in the arm, and yanked Ms. van Ree’s
necklace off her neck. Ms. Heard was arrested. She was booked for misdemeanor domestic
violence, a mug shot was taken of her, and she spent the night in jail. The following day, the
Seattle-based prosecutor declined to press charges against Ms, Heard, but only because both she
and her domestic abuse victim were California residents who were merely passing through
Washington state.

26.  Since casting herself as a domestic abuse victim, Ms. Heard has attempted to
blame misogyny and homophobia for her domestic violence arrest—claiming that she was
arrested “on a trumped up charge” because she was in a same-sex relationship. In truth, the
police ofﬁcer who arrested Ms. Heard for domestic violence was both a woman and a lesbian
activist, who publicly said so after she was publicly disparaged by Ms. Heard.

27.  Ms. Heard’s violent domestic abuse did not end when her relationship with Ms.
van Ree ended. Ms. Heard committed multiple acts of domestic violence against Mr. Depp
during their marriage. Ms. Heard’s physical abuse of Mr, Depp is documented by eyewitness
accounts, photographs, and even Ms. Heard’s own admissions under oath.

28.  In one particularly gruesome episode that occmed only one month into their
marriaée, Ms. Heard shattered the bones in the tip of Mr. Depp’s right middle finger, almost
completely cuiting it off. Ms. Heard threw a glass vodka bottle at Mr, Depp—one of many
projectiles that she launched at him in this and other instances. The bottle shattered as it came

into contact with Mr. Depp’s hand, and the broken glass and impact severed and shattered Mr.



Depp’s finger. Mr. Depp’s finger had to be surgically reattached. Ms. Heard then disseminated
false accounts of this incident, casting Mr. Depp as the perpetrator of his own injury.

29.  Ms. Heard’s domestic abuse of Mr. Depp continued unabated throughout their 15-
month marriage. Ms. Heard threw dangerous objects at Mr. Depp, and also kicked and punched
him with regularity.

30.  Shockingly, Ms. Heard even has used one of her attacks on Mr. Depp to push her
false narrative that she is a domestic abuse victim. In her false affidavit to obtain a restraining
order against Mr. Depp, Ms. Heard recounted a domestic violence incident that occurred between
her and Mr. Depp on April 21, 2016 and reversed the roles, claiming that she was the victim
when in truth she was the perpetrator. Ms. Heard falsely claimed that Mr. Depp physically
attacked her, threw glasses at her, and broke a champagne bottle in their penthouse after her
thirtieth birthday celebration on April 21, 2016. In truth, Ms. Heard—angry with Mr. Depp
because he was late to her bfrthday celebration due to a business meeting — punched Mr. Depp
twice in the face as be lay in bed reading, forcing him to flee their penthouse to avoid further
domestic violence at the hands of Ms. Heard. Mr. Depp’s security detail member, Sean Belt (an
18-year veteran of the Los Angeles County Sherriff's Department) picked up Mr, Depp
immediately after Ms. Heard assaulted him and witnessed firsthand the afiermath and damage to
Mr, Depp’s face. On other occasions—after Ms. Heard violently attacked Mr. Depp in
December 2015—Mr. Bett insisted on taking photographs to document the damage to Mr.
Depp’s face inflicted by Ms. Heard.

31.  Thus, contrary to the false and defamatory implication in her “Sexual Violence”
op-ed, Ms. Heard was never a victim of domestic violence at the hands of Mr. Depp. Ms. Heard

herself is a domestic abuser, who committed multiple acts of domestic violence against Mr. Depp

10



during their marriage, in addition to the domestic abuse that she perpetrated against her former
partner,
Ms. Heard’s Domestic Abuse Allegations Against Mr. Depp Are False And Have Been
Refuted Conclusively By Police, Neutral Third-Party Witnesses, and
87 Surveillance Videos

32,  Ms. Heard did not “[speak] up against sexual violence™ as she claimed in her op-
ed. She made false allegations of domestic abuse against Mr. Depp to execute her hoax.

33.  The centerpiece of Ms. Heard’s false abuse allegations is an incident that she
claimed took place around 7:15 pm on Saturday, May 21, 2016 at Mr. Depp’s penthouse in the
Eastern Columbia Building in downtown Los Angeles. After Ms. Heard lured Mr, Depp to pick
up personal items from his own penthouse, Ms. Heard, sitting on the sofa with her friend, Raquel
Pennington, and talking on the phone with her friend, iO Tillett Wright, claimed that Mt. Depp
“grabbed the cell phone, wound up his arm like a baseball pitcher and threw the cell phone at me
striking my cheek and eye with great force.” | Ms. Heard also claimed that Mr, Depp further
battered her face with some “appendage of his body” and then used a magnum-sized bottle of
wine o destroy the penthouse, spilling wine, broken glass, and other items around the penthouse.
“Penthouse 3 was destroyed” by Mr, Depp’s bottle swinging, claimed Ms. Heard in her swomn
testimony. Her two friends testified accordingly. Ms. Heard used these allegations to obtain a
temporary restraining order against Mr. Depp on May 27, 2016, appearing in court six days after
the alleged incident with the first appearance of a battered face, notwithstanding that a litany of
people witnessed her throughout the week with no injury and building surveillance videos
similarly showed her uninjured.

34,  Mr. Depp, it is worth noting, left Los Angeles for many weeks almost

immediately after the alleged incident. And it is also worth noting that building personnel
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testified under oath that they again facilitated Elon Musk’s nighttime visits to Mr. Depp’s
penthouse to visit Ms, Heard, key-fobbing him in and out of the building proximate to the time
Ms. Heard presented her battered face to the public and the court on May 27, 2016.

35.  Mr, Depp has consistently and unequivocally denied Ms. Heard's domestic abuse
allegations. They also have been refuted conclusively by multiple, neutral third-party witnesses.

36.  Ms, Heard’s friend and neighbor, Isaac Baruch, gave a declaration that he
repeatedly interacted with Ms. Heard, at close range, without makeup, and utterly unmarked and
uninjured in the days between May 22 and May 27, 2016. He further stated in his declaration
that on June 3, after confronting Ms. Heard about how upset he was at her false abuse
allegations: “Amber then told me that she did not want anything from Johnny and that it was the
lawyers who were doing all of this.”

37.  Police went to Mr. Depp’s penthouse on May 21, 2016, immediately after the
inci;lent was alleged to have occurred. They were dispatched after Ms. Heard’s friend, Mr.
Wright, called 911 to report what the police dispatch log describes as a “verbal argument only”
between a husband and wife. Two officers, who are highly trained in domestic violence, arrived
at the penthouse shortly after Ms. Heard later claimed that Mr. Depp struck her in the face with a
cell phone, further hit her face, and then “destroyed” his own penthouse by swinging a magnum-
sized bottle of wine into other objects throughout that penthouse. Officer Melissa Saenz is a
veteran Los Angeles Police officer who is charged with training other police offi‘cers and
personally has responded to “over a hundred” domestic violence calls. Officer Tyler Hadden is a
junior police officer, but focused on domestic violence at the police academy and received

extensive training in how to detect that particular crime.
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38.  Both Officer Saenz and Officer Hadden testified under oath that they closely
observed Ms. Heard’s face in good light on May 21, 2016 and saw no signs of any injury. Inthe
police officers’ face-to-face interactions with Ms. Heard immediately after she supposedly was
struck in the face with a cell phone and then further beaten in the face by Mr. Depp, the police
officers saw no red marks, no bruising, and no swelling anywhere on Ms. Heard’s face. Both
Officer Saenz and Officer Hadden also testified under oath that, when they went room-to-room
in the penthouses to investigate, they saw no broken glass, no spilled wine, and no vandalism or
property damage of any kind. This is in contrast to Ms. Heard’s later claim that Mr. Depp
“destroyed” penthouse 3 and caused serious, visible injuries to her face. It also directly
contradicts Ms. Heard’s friend’s testimony regarding what Ms. Heard’s face looked like at tﬁat
time: “Just the whole side of her face was like swolled up (sic) and red and puffy . . . and
progressively getting worse.”

39. There was no probable cause to believe that a crime had been committed,
according to Officer Saenz’s testimony, because Ms. Heard had no injuries and claimed to have
no injuries, and there was no property damage in the penthouse or signs of any altercation.

40.  Multiple people who work professionally in the Eastern Columbia Building where
the penthouse is located, and who do not know Mr, Depp personally, also have unambiguously
debunked Ms. Heard’s claim that her face was injured on May 21, 2016 and that she had any
sign of injury in the six days before May 27, 2016. Three people, the building’s concierge, head
of front desk and head of security, profoundly testified under oath about their face-to-face
interactions with Ms. Heard between May 22, 2016 (the day after Ms, Heard claims that Mr.
Depp hit her and struck her in the eye and on the cheek with a cell phone) and May 27, 2016 (the

day Ms. Heard appeared in public and went to court to get a restraining order against Mr. Depp
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with what appeared to be a battered face). Every one of those three people testified under oath
that they saw Ms. Heard ;1p close in the days after the supposed attack and her face was not
injured before the day she obtained the restraining order against Mr. Depp.

41,  Cornelius Harrell is a concierge at the Eastern Columbia Building and was
working at the front desk at 1 pm on the afternoon of Sunday, May 22, 2016. Mr. Harrell saw
Ms, Heard face-to-face that afternoon—Iless than 24 hours after she claims that she was struck in
the face by a cell phone thrown by Mr. Depp and hit in the faée by Mr, Depp.

42, In an interaction that was also captured by the Eastern Columbia Building’s
surveillance cameras ar;d saved, Ms. Heard approached Mr. Harrell to pick up a package that had
been delivered to her. Ms. Heard accompanied Mr. Harrell to the package room to identify
which package she wanted because more than one had been delivered to her. As they were
looking through her packages, Mr. Harrell and Ms. Heard were inside the package room
together. The package room at the Eastern Columbia Building is “no bigger than a walk-in
closet,” so Mr. Harrell had an opportunity to observe Ms. Heard’s face up close, the day after she
claimed she was battered bsf Mr. Depp in the face. |

43, Mr. Harrell testified under oath that, on May 22, 2016, Ms. Heard did not have
any bruises, cuts, scratches, or swelling on her face and that “nothing appeared out of the
ordinary about Ms. Heard’s face on May 22, 2016.” In fact, Mr. Harrell testified that he was
struck by how “beautiful,” “radiant,” and “reﬁeshqd” Ms. Heard looked, noting that, if she was
wearing any makeup at all, it was “minimal.” Mr. Harrell unequivocally testified that when he
was interacting one-on-cne in close quarters with Ms. Heard on May 22, 2016 for about 8
minutes, that he did not se¢ any evidence to suggest that she had been the victim of domestic

violence the day before. Mr. Harrell does not know Mr. Depp personally.
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44,  Alejandro Romero also works at the Eastern Columbia Building, manning the
front desk and monitoring the security cameras frorﬁ 4:00 pm to 1:00 am Monday-Friday. Mr.
Romero had “hundreds” of in-person interactions with Ms. Heard when she resided in the
penthouse, in addition to observing her innumerable times on surveillance footage captured by
the Eastern Columbia Building’s security cameras. Mr. Romero testified under oath about two
specific face-to-face interactions that he had with Ms, Heard in the days after she claimed that
Mr. Depp hit her in the face and struck her cheek and eye with a cell phone that he threw.

45,  Mr. Romero testified that on _the “Monday or Tuesday” evening “after the police
were called”—May 23 or 24, 2016—he was approached at the front desk By Ms. Heard and her
friend, Ms. Pennington, who also resided in the penthouse, Ms. Heard and Ms. Pennington
asked Mr. Romero to acéompany them to the penthouse because they were afraid that someone
had tried to get inside the penthouse. Mr. Romero discounted this concern because he had been
monitoring security footage and saw no one trying to access the penthouse. Nevertheless, Mr.
Romero agreed to accompany Ms. Heard and Ms. Pennington to the penthouse and confirm that
it was secure. He left the front desk with Ms. Heard and Ms. Pennington, rode up to the 13th
floor with them, and went inside the penthouse with them. Throughout this interaction, Mr.
Romero testified under oath that he had “a full shot” of Ms, Heard’s face and “a good visual” of
Ms. Heard’s face and saw no bruises, cuts, swelling, or marks of any kind.

46.  Mr. Romero interacted with Ms. Heard again on the evening of May 25, 2016
when she came tc-y the front desk to retrieve a key to the penthouse that she had left at the front
desk. Again, in this face-to-face interaction, Mr. Romero testified that he saw no bruises, cuts,

swelling, or marks of any kind on Ms. Heard’s face.
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47.  Based on his in-person interactions with Ms. Heard, Mr. Romero, who does not
know Mr. Depp personally, testified under oath that he “couldn’t believe” Ms. Heard’s domestic
abuse allegations against Mr. Depp because:

It was like — it was like I said, we watched the news and we saw the pictures. And I saw
the pictures and the next day [ saw her, I was like, come on, really? I couldn’t believe it.

It was — I saw her in person. . . .. The pictures I saw on the news, she got like a big
mark on her — on her eyes and her cheek. And when I saw her in person, I didn’t see
anything.

48.  Trinity Esparza, the daytime concierge at the Eastern Columbia Building who
works at the front desk from 8:00 am to 4:00 pm Monday-Friday, echoed Mr. Romero’s disbelief
at Ms. Heard’s account. Mg. Esparza, who does not know Mr. Depp personally, testified under
oath that she thought that Ms. Heard’s allegation that she had been assaulted by Mr. Depp was
“false” because “I saw her several times [in the days after the alleged attack] and I didn’t see that
[mark] on her face.”

49.  Ms. Esparza had multiple face-to-face interactions.wi‘th Ms. Heard in the days
after Ms. Heard claimed that Mr. Depp hit her and struck her in the eye and cheek with a cell
phone. Ms. Esparza saw Ms. Heard in-person on Monday, May 23, 2016; Tuesday, May 24,
2016, Wednesday, May 25, 2016; and Friday, May 27, 2016. Ms, Esparza testified under oath
that, when she saw Ms, Heard on the Monday, Tuesday, and Wednesday after the alleged attack,
Ms, ﬁeard was not wearing makeup and that Ms. Heard had no facial injuries, There were no
bruises or cuts on Ms. Heard’s face, according to Ms. Esparza’s testimony. Ms. Esparza testified
under oath that she saw no indication that Ms. Heard had been hit or struck.

50.  Then, on Friday, May 27, 2016, Ms. Esparza testified under oath that Ms. Heard
suddenly “had a red cut underneath her right eye and red marks by her eye.” Then Ms. Esparza

learned from media reports that Ms. Heard had obtained a domestic violence restraining order
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against Mr. Depp on May 27, 2016, Because Ms. Esparza had seen Ms, Heard so many times
that week without any marks on her face, Ms. Esparza thought “the time didn’t add up and so |
was questioning . . . the mark on her face and the allegations that were made.”

51.  Ms. Esparza was so troubled by the sudden appearance of “a mark™ on Ms,
Heard’s face on #he very day that Ms, Heard obtained a restraining order against Mr, Depp—but
six days after the alleged incident—that Ms. Esparza went back and looked at security video
footage and talked to others who worked in the Eastern Columbia Building to see if the “mark™
might have been on Ms. Heard’s face earlier. It wasn’t.

52. Mr. Romero and Mr. Harrell confirmed to Ms. Esparza that Ms. Heard did not
have any injuries on her face when they interacted with her.

53.  Ms. Esparza also did not see the “mark” on Ms, Heard’s face when she went back
and reviewed surveillance videos from the days after Ms. Heard claims that Mr. Depp hit her and
struck her in the face with a cell phone that he threw.

54.  But Ms. Esparza did see something else on the surveillance video. On a video
- from the evening of May 24, 2016, three nights after Ms. Heard alleged that she was attacked by
Mr. Depp, Ms. Esparza saw Ms, Heard, her sister, Whitney Heard, and Ms. Heard’s friend and
corroborating witness, Ms. Pennington, on the mezzanine level of the Eastern Columbia
Building, In the surveillance video, Ms. Esparza testified under oath that she saw Whitney
Heard pretend to punch her sister in the face. Then Ms, Heard, Ms. Pennington, and Whitney
Heard all laughed. Ms, Esparza testified that she thought how Ms. Heard, Ms. Pennington, and
Whitney Heard were acting on the surveillance video was “wrong,” and it only made her
question more how Ms, Heard ended up with a “mark” on her face three days later, on Friday,

May 27. Ms. Esparza knew that Mr. Depp had left Los Angeles for work on the day of the
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alleged incident “and he did not return and so I was questioning how those marks got on her face
on Friday.” Ultimately, Ms. Esparza testified under oath that she was forced to conclude that
“whatever happened to [Ms. Heard’s] face did not happen on Saturday [May 21]”, as Ms. Heard
had alleged.

55.  Ms. Esparza is not the only professional employee of the Eastern Columbia
Building to witness the “fake punch” video. Brandon Patterson, the General Manager of the
Eastern Columbia Building, provided a declaration about it;

One of the surveillance videos, taken the evening of Tuesday, May 24, showed Amber

Heard, her sister Whitney Heard, and her friend Raquel Pennington entering the

building’s mezzanine, Trinity Esparza showed me a video at the front desk with a pretend

punch to the face from one of Miss Heard’s two companions, and the three of them
laughed hard. They then enter the penthouse elevator, where Ms. Heard’s face was
clearly visible, there were similarly no bruises, cuts, redness, swelling visible on Ms.

Heard’s face.

56. Later, in the media firestorm concerning Ms, Heard’s domestic abuse allegations
against Mr, Depp, Ms, Heard learned that there were media reports stating that people who
worked at the front desk of the Eastern Columbia Building had seen Ms, Heard without any
marks on her face, as indeed was their testimony. Mr. Patterson, the General Manager of the
Eastern Columbia Building, summarized the testimony of building staff in his own declaration:

Ms. Heard was repeatedly observed in the Eastern Columbia Building in the multiple

days following the alleged assault without bruises, cuts, redness, swelling or any other

injuries to her face. These observations were made by. people working at the front desk at
the Eastern Columbia Building who interacted with Ms. Heard in person and also saw
images of her on the building surveillance cameras.

57.  Approximately a week after she made her domestic abuse allegations against Mr.
Depp, Ms. Heard approached Ms. Esparza and Mr. Patterson, and asked the two of them to give
a statement to Ms. Heard’s “friend” at People Magazine. Ms. Heard wanted Ms, Esparza and

Mr. Patterson “to help retract the statement that was given to the press stating that the front desk
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had released this information [about seeing Ms. Heard with no injuries to her face] and [Ms.
Heard] asked if we would clarify it and let them know that we, in fact, would never release that
information on any resident.” Mr. Patterson and Ms. Esparza refused to give the statement and
directed Ms. Heard to the Eastern Columbia Building’s lawyer.

58.  Ms. Esparza testified that she was “not comfortable” with “the statement that [Ms.
Heard] was proposing that [the building] make to People Magazine, that the building would not
have said they saw [Ms. Heard] without marks on her face” “because that would have been a lie”
as “the front desk did, in fact, see [Ms. Heard) prior to Friday [May 27, 2016] without marks on
her face.”

59.  The people working at the front desk of the Eastern Columbia Building did not
see any injuries to Ms. Heard’s face because there were no injuries to Ms. Heard’s face. Ms.
Heard’s allegations that Mr. Depp’s battered her was a poorly executed hoax.

60. The police officers, who responded to the penthouse on May 21, 2016
immediately after the alleged attack, saw no signs that Ms. Heard had been hit or struck by a cell
phone or that a magnum-sized bottle of wine had “destroyed” the penthouse because #ose
things never happened. There was no probable cause to believe a crime had been committed
because no crime had been committed against Ms. Heard by Mr. Depp. |

61.  Ms. Heard’s domestic violence allegations against Mr. Depp were false, as is her
portrayal of herself in her “Sexual Violence” op-ed as a domestic violence victim and her
portrayal of Mr. Depp as a domestic violence perpetrator and “monster.”

Ms. Heard Acted With Actual Malice When She Implied In Her “Sexual Violence” Op-Ed
That She Was A Victim Of Domestic Abuse At The Hands Of Mr. Depp
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62.  Ms. Heard acted with actual malice when she published her false and defamatory
“Sexual Violence” op-ed and implied that she was a victim of domestic abuse at the hands of Mr.
Depp.

63.  Ms. Heard knew that she was not the domestic abuse victim, but the domestic
abuser.

64.  Ms. Heard knew that her domestic abuse a.llegatidns against Mr. Depp were false
and that she leveled therh and enlisted her friends to act as surrogates for her lies, as part of an
elaborate hoax to generate positive publicity for herself.

65. Ms. Heard also knew that her elaborate hoax worked: as a result of her false
allegations against Mr. Depp, Ms. Heard became a darling of the #MeToo movement, was the
first actress named a Human Rights Champion of the United Nations Human Rights Office, was
appointed ambassador on women’s rights at the American Civil Liberties Union, and was hired
by L’Oréal Paris as its global spokesperson.

66.  Because of the past success that her false domestic abuse allegations against Mr.
Depp had brought her, Ms. Heard revived the false allegations to promote her new movie.

67.  Aquaman, Ms. Heard’s first leading role in a big-budget studio film, premiered in
theatres across the United States (and in Virginia) on December 21, 2019. The movie ended up
making over $1 billion at the box office globally.

68.  Tellingly, just days before the premiere, Heard published her “Sexual Violence”
op-ed with its false implication that she was a domestic abuse victim at the hands of Mr. Depp on
December 18, 2019 in the Washington Post’s online edition and on December 19, 2019 in the
Washington Post’s hardcopy edition. The op-ed in the Washington Post’s online edition was

accompanied by a picture of Ms. Heard on the red carpet at Aquaman's Los Angeles premiere.
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Mr. Depp’s Reputation And Career Suffer As A Result Of Ms. Heard’s
False And Defamatory Op-Ed

69. As a result of Ms. Heard’s false domestic abuse allegations, Mr. Depp’s
reputation and career sustained immense damage.

70. Ms. Heard, an actress herself, is well aware of the negative effect that false
domestic abuse allegations have on Mr, Depp’s career.

71.  Mr. Depp lost roles in movies because of the false allegations that Ms. Heard
made against him. When Mr. Depp was cast in films, there were public outcries for the
filmmakers to recast his roles.

72.  Mr. Depp endured the public scorn caused by Ms, Heard’s false domestic abuse
allegations for more than two years. But he was weathering the storm and had a successful film
release in November 2019. In fact, that movie was still playing on screens across Virginia when
Ms. Heard revived the false domestic abuse allegations by publishing her “Sexual Violence” op-
ed in the Washington Post.

73.  The reaction to Ms. Heard’s false and defamatory op-ed was swift and severe,
Just two days after the op-ed appeared in the Washington Post’s online edition, Disney publicly
announced that Mr, Depp would no longer be a part of the Pirates of the Caribbean franchise.
Mr. Depp’s turn as Captain Jack Sparrow in the Pirates of the Caribbean films is one of Mr.
Depp’s most iconic roles, and generated billions of dollars for Disney. Nevertheless, he was
denied an opportunity to reprise that role immediately on the heels of Ms, Heard’s false and
defamatory op-ed.

COUNT ONE—DEFAMATION FOR STATEMENTS IN MS. HEARD’S DECEMBER
18, 2018 OP-ED IN THE ONLINE EDITION OF THE WASHINGTON POST
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74.  Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each of the foregoing paragraphs as if set forth
fully herein.

75.  Ms. Heard published the “Sexual Violence” op-ed on the December 18, 2018.
The article was published to a worldwide audience on the Washington Post'’s website. A true
and correct copy of the online edition of the “Sexual Violence” op-ed is attached hereto and
incorporated by reference as Exhibit A,

76.  The “Sexual Violence™ op-ed contained the following false and defamatory
statements concerning Mr. Depp:

s “Amber Heard: I spoke up against sexual violence — and faced our culture’s wrath,
That has to change.”

» “Then two years ago, I became a public figure representing domestic abuse, and I felt
the full force of our culture’s wrath for women who speak out.”

» “I had the rare vantage point of seeing, in real time, how institutions protect men
accused of abuse.”

» “Twrite this as a woman who had to change my phone number weekly becausc I was
getting death threats. For months, I rarely left my apartment, and when I did, I was
pursued by camera drones and photographers on foot, on motorcycles and in cars.
Tabloid outlets that posted pictures of me spun them in a negative light. I felt as
though 1 was on trial in the court of public opinion — and my life and livelihood
depended on myriad judgments far beyond my control.”

77.  These statements are of and concerning Mr. Depp, as he is Ms, Heard’s former
husband and she publicly (and falsely) accused him of domestic abuse in May 2016. Moreover,
Ms. Heard intended to refer to Mr. Depp in these statements, and those who know Mr. Depp or
who read the “Sexual Violence” op-ed understood these statements to be about Mr. Depp.

78.  These statements, which imply that Ms. Heard was the victim of domestic

violence at the hands of Mr. Depp, are false:
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a. Mr. Depp did not commit “domestic abuse” or “sexual violence” against Ms.
Heard. Ms. Heard’s allegation that Mr, Depp violently attacked her on May 21,
2016 has been refuted conclusively by police, neutral third-party witnesses, and
87 newly obtained surveillance camera videos.

b. Ms. Heard is not a victim of domestic violence; rather, she is a perpetrator. Ms,
Heard was arrested for domestic violence against her former domestic partner in
2009. Ms. Heard also committed multiple act§ of domestic viclence against Mr.
Depp, some of which she has confessed to under oath.

79.  The substantial danger of injury to Mr. Depp’s reputation from Ms. Heard’s false
statements is readily apparent. Such statements would tend to so harm the reputation of another
as to lower him in the estimation of the community or to deter third persdns from associating or
dealing with him.

80. By publishing these false statements, Ms, Heard caused harm to Mr. Depp’s
reputation.

81. At the time of publication, Ms. Heard knew these statements were false.

82.  Ms. Heard’s false statements are defamatory per se because they impute to Mr.
Depp the commission of a crime involving moral turpitude for which Mr. Depp, if the charge
was true, could be indicted and punished. Moreover, Ms. Heard’s false statements prejudice Mr.
Depp in his profession as a film actor. Mr. Depp therefore is entitled to presumed damages.

83.  Asadirectand i)roximatc result of these false staternents by Ms. Heard, Mr. Depp
has suffered damages, including, infer alia, injury to his reputation, harm to his ability to carry
on his profession, embarrassment, humiliation, and emotional distress, in an amount to be

determined at trial.
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84. Ms, Heard’s actions were malicious, willful, and wanton, and evidence a
conscious disregard for Mr. Depp’s rights. Accordingly, punitive damages are appropriate.
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court enter an award in Plaintiff's
favor and against Defendant, as follows:
D awarding Mr. Depp compensatory damages of not less than $ 50,000,000, orin -
such additional amount to be proven at trial;
2) awarding Mr. Depp punitive damages to the maximum extent permitted by the
laws of this Commonwealth, but not less than $ 350,000;
3) awarding Mr. Depp all of his expenses and costs, including attorneys’ fees; and

@) granting such other and further relief as the Court deems appropriate.

COUNT TWO—DEFAMATION FOR STATEMENTS IN MS. HEARD’S DECEMBER
19, 2018 OP-ED IN THE PRINT EDITION OF THE WASHINGTON POST

85.  Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each of the foregoing paragraphs as if set forth
fully herein.

86.  Ms. Heard published the “Sexual Violence” op-ed in the December 19, 20138

hardcopy edition of the Washington Post, which the Washington Post distributes to readers in

Virginia, across the nation, and around the world. A true and correct copy of the hardcopy
edition of the “Sexual Violence” op-ed is attached herefo and incorporated by reference as
Exhibit B.

87. The “Sexual Violence” op-ed contained the following false and defamatory
statements concerning Mr. Depp:

e “Amber Heard: I spoke up against sexual violence — and faced our culture’s wrath.
That has to change.”
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¢ “Then two years ago, I became a public figure representing domestic abuse, and [ felt
the full force of our culture s wrath for women who speak out.”

e I had the rare vantage point of seeing, in real time, how institutions protect men
accused of abuse.”

¢ “ write this as a woman who had to change my phone numbe-r weekly because I was
getting death threats. For months, I rarely left my apartment, and when I did, I was
pursued by camera drones and photographers on foot, on motorcycles and in cars.
Tabloid outlets that posted pictures of me spun them in a negative light, I felt as
though I was on trial in the court of public opinion — and my life and livelihood
depended on myriad judgments far beyond my control.”

88.  These statements are of and concerning Mr. Depp, as he is Ms. Heard’s former
husband and she publicly (and falsely) accused him of domestic abuse in May 2016. Moredver,
Ms. Heard intended to refer to Mr. Depp in these statements, and those who know Mr. Depp or
who read the “Sexual Violence” op-ed understood these statements to be about Mr. Depp.

89.  These statenients, which imply that Ms, Heard was the victim of domestic
violence at the hands of Mr. Depp, are false:

a, Mr, Depp did not commit “domestic abuse” or “sexual violence™ against Ms.
Heard. Ms. Heard’s allegation that Mr, Depp violently attacked her on May 21,
2016 has been refuted conclusively by police, neutral third-party witnesses, and
87 newly obtained surveillance camera videos.

b. Ms, Heard is not a victim of domestic violence; rather, she is a perpetrator. Ms.
Heard was arrested for domestic violence against her former partuer in 2009. Ms.
Heard also committed multiple acts of domestic violence against Mr. Depp.

90.  The substantial danger of injury to Mr. Depp’s reputation from Ms. Heard’s false
statements is readily apparent. Such statements would tend to so harm the reputation of another

as to lower him in the estimation of the community or to deter third persons from associating or

dealing with him,

25



91.
_ reputation.
92.

93.

By publishing these false statements, Ms. Heard caused harm to Mr. Depp’s

At the time of publication, Ms. Heard knew these statements were false.

Ms. Heard’s false statements are defamatory per se because they impute to Mr.

Depp the commission of a crime involving moral turpitude for which Mr. Depp, if the charge

was true, could be indicted and punished. Moreover, Ms. Heard’s false statements prejudice Mr.

Depp in his profession as a film actor. Mr. Depp therefore is entitled to presumed damages,

94.

As a direct and proximate result of these false statements by Ms. Heard, Mr. Depp

has suffered damages, including, infer alia, injury to his reputation, harm to his ability to carry

on his profession, embarrassment, humiliation, and emotional distress, in an amount to be

determined at trial.

95,

Ms. Heard’s actions were malicious, willful, and wanton, and evidence a

conscious disregard for Mr. Depp’s rights. Accordl:ngly, punitive damages are appropriate.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court enter an award in Plaintiff's

favor and against Defendant, as follows:

(1)

2

€)
4

awarding Mr. Depp compensatory damages of not less than $ 50,000,000, or in
such additional amount to be proven at trial;

awarding Mr. Depp punitive damages to the maximum extent permitted by the
laws of this Commonwealth, but not less than $ 350,000;

awarding Mr. Depp all of his expenses and costs, including attorneys’ fees; and

granting such other and further relief as the Court deems appropriate.

COUNT THREE—DEFAMATION FOR STATEMENTS IN MS. HEARD’S OP-ED

WHICH HEARD REPUBLISHED WHEN SHE TWEETED A LINK
TO THE OP-ED ON DECEMBER 19, 2018
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96.  Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each of the foregoing paragraphs as if set forth
fully herein.

97. Ms. Heard published the “Sexual Violence” op-ed in the December 18, 2018
online edition of the Washington Post. The following day, Ms. Heard tweeted a link to the op-
ed. A true and correct copy of Ms. Heard’s tweet of the link to the “Sexual Violence” op-ed is
attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit C.

98.  The *“Sexual Violence” op-ed contained the following false and defamatory
statements concerning Mr. Depp: |

» “Amber Heard: I spoke up against sexual violence — and faced our culture’s wrath.
That has to change.”

s “Then two years ago, I became a public figure representing domestic abuse, and I felt
the full force of our culture’s wrath for women who speak out.”

# “I had the rarc vantage point of seeing, in real time, how institutions protect men
accused of abuse.”

e “Twrite this as a woman who had to change my phone number weekly because I was
getting death threats. For months, I rarely left my apartment, and when I did, I was
pursued by camera drones and photographers on foot, on motorcycles and in cars.
Tabloid outlets that posted pictures of me spun them in a negative light. I felt as
though I was on trial in the court of public opinion — and my life and livelihood
depended on myriad judgments far beyond my control.”

99.  These statements are of and concerning Mr. Depp, as he is Ms, Heard’s former
husband and she publicly (and falsely) accused him of domestic abuse in May 2016. Moreover,
Ms. Heard intended to refer to Mr. Depp in these statements, and those who know Mr. Depp or
who read the “Sexual Violence™ op-ed understood these statements to be about Mr. Depp.

100. These statements, which imply that Ms. Heard was the victim of domestic

violence at the hands of Mr. Depp, are false:
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a. Mr. Depp did not commit “domestic abuse” or “sexual violence” against Ms.
Heard. Ms. Heard’s allegation that Mr. Depp violently attacked her on May 21,
2016 has been refuted conclusi,vely by police, multiple, neutral third-party
witnesses, and 87 newly obtained surveillance camera videos.

b. Ms. Heard is not a victim of domestic violence; rather, she is a perpetrator. Ms.
Heard was arrested for domestic violence against her former partner in 2009. Ms.
Heard also committed multiple acts of domestic violence against Mr. Depp.

101. The substantial danger of injury to Mr, Depp’s reputation from Ms. Heard’s falsc
statements is readily apparent. Such statements would tend to so harm the reputation of another
as to lower him in the estimation of the community or to deter third persons from associating or
dealing with him.

102. By publishing these false statements, Ms. Heard caused harm to Mr. Depp’s
reputation.

103. At the time of publication, Ms. Heard knew these statements were false.

104. Ms. Heard’s false statements are defamatory per se because they impute to Mr.
Depp the commission of a crime involving moral turpitude for which Mr. Depp, if the charge
was true, could be indicted and punished. More;:)ver, Ms. Heard’s false statements prejudice Mr.
Depp in his profession as a film actor. Mr. Depp therefore is entitled to presumed damages.

105, As adirect and proximate result of these false statements by Ms. Heard, Mr. Depp
has suffered damages; including, infer alia, injury to his reputation, harm to his ability to carry
on his profession, embarrassment, humiliation, and emotional distress, in an amount to be

determined at trial.
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106.

Ms. Heard’s actions were malicious, willful, and wanton, and evidence a

conscious disregard for Mr. Depp’s rights. Accordingly, punitive damages are appropriate.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court enter an award in Plaintiff’s

favor, and against Defendant, as follows:

(D

@)

3
(4)

awarding Mr, Depp compensatory damages of not less than $50,000,000, or in
such additional amount to be proven at trial;

awarding Mr. Depp punitive damages to the maximum extent permitted by the
laws of this Commonwealth, but no less than $350,000;

awarding Mr. Depp all expenses and costs, including attorneys’ fees; and

such other and further relief as the Court deems appropriate.

JURY TRIAL DEMAND

Plaintiff John C. Depp, II hereby demands a jury trial on all issues so triable.

Dated: March 1, 2019

Brittany Whitesell Biles (pro hac vice application forthcoming)
STEIN MITCHELL BEATO & MISSNER LLP
901 Fifteenth Street, N,W,

Suite 700

Washington, D.C. 26005
Telephone: (202) 601-1602
Facsimile: (202) 296-8312
Email: bbiles@steinmitchell.com
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Facsimile: (202) 296-8312
Email: bbiles@steinmitchell.com

Adam R. Waldman

THE ENDEAVOR LAW FIRM, P.C.

1775 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Suite 350
Washington, DC 20006

.Chew (VSB #29113)
Elliot J. Weingarten (pro hac vice application forthcoming)
BROWN RUDNICK LLP
601 Thirteenth Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20005
Telephone: (202) 536-1700
Facsimile: (202) 536-1701
Email: behew@brownrudnick.com

Counsel for Plaintiff John C. Depp, IT
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Amber Heard: I spoke up against sexual violence — and
faced our culture’s wrath. That has to change.
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By Ambasc Haard

December 18, 2018



Amber Heard is an actress and ambassador on women’s rights at the American Civil Liberties Union.

1was exposed to abuse at a very young age. I knew certain things early on, without ever having to be told. I
knew that men have the power — physically, sacially and financially — and that a lot of institutions support
that arrangement. [ knew this long before I had the words to articulate it, and I bet you learned it young, too,

Like many women, I had been harassed and sexually assaulted by the time I was of college age. But I kept
quiet — I did not expect filing complaints to bring justice. And I didn't see myself as a victim.

Then two years ago, I became a public figure representing domestic abuse, and I felt the full force of our Moast Read Opinions
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mmﬂyw&megﬁgTwmmmggmmmMﬁawmﬁhthiswm not just in
Hollywood but in all kinds of institntions — worlplaces, places of worship or simply in particelar
communities. In every walk of life, women are confronting these men wha are bagyed by social, economic
and cultural power. And these institutions are beginning to change.

‘We are in a transformative political moment, The president of our country has been accnsed by more than a
dozen women of sexnal misconduct, including assanlt and harassment. Qutrage over his statemnents and
behavior has energized & female-led opposition. #MeTeo started a conversation abont just how profoundly
sexmal violence affects women in every area of our Lives. And last month, more women were elected to
Congress than ever in our history, with a mandate to teke women's issues sericusly, Women’s rage and
determination tp end sexnal vislence are hrrning into a political force.

We have an opening now to bolster and baild institations protective of women. For starters, Congress can
reguthorize and strengthen the Violence Against Women Act. First passed in 1994, the adt is one of the most
effective piaces of legidlation enacted to fight domestic vinlence and sexual assanlt. It creates support
systems for people who report abuse, and provides funding for rape crisis centers, legal assistance programs
and other critical sexvices. It improves responses by law enforcement, and it prohibits discrimination against
LGBTQ survivors, Funding for the act expired in September and has only been temporarily extended.
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We should continue to fight semnal assaplt on college campuses, while simultanecusly insisting on fair
processes for adjudicating conplaints. East month, Education Serretary Betsy DeVos proposed changes to
Title IX rules governing the treatment of sexial harassment and azsaglt in schools. While some changes
would make the proeess for handling complaints more fair, others would weaken protections for sexaal
assanlt survivors. For example, lhenewm!swon!drequi:es&oolﬁtoimsﬁgatnonlythemmtmeme
complaints, and then only when they are made to designated officials, Women on campuses alreaity have
trouble coming forward aboit sexual violence — why would we allow instititions to scale back supports?

Twrite this as a waoman who had to change my phone number weekly becanse I was getting death threats.
For months, I rarely left my apartment, and when I did, I was pursued by camera drones and photographers
on foot, on motorcycles and in cars. Tabloid outlets that pasted pictures of me spun them in 2 negative light.
T felt as thongh I was on trial in the court of public opinipn — and my life and livelikood depended on myriad
judgments far beyond my contral.

I want to ensure that women who come forward to talk sbout violence receive more support. We are electing
representatives who kmow how deeply we care about these issues. We can work together to demand changes
ta laws and rules and social norms — and to right the iubalances that have shaped our lives.

Read more:

The Post’s View: What Betsy DeVos's new Title IX changes get right — and wrong
Betsy DeVos: It's time we balance the scales of justice in our schools

Jsnet Napolitano: Don't let the Tromp sdministration undermine Title IX

Mili Mitra: The most borrifying part of the Dartmouth sexual harassment case

% 710 Comments
Rood These Conxnoats nowsletter
The best 1 and cor ons 5t The Washk Post, d every Friday, Join the conversation.
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A transformative

moment for women

By AMATR HZARD

“tary. with L mandate to take women's

me nﬁmsly Womm‘s Tage and

wat erposed to'nb &very

yaungage ] jaiew ciraln things

carly on, without ooz Hkvirg e

bmld.nmwtmmenl:mme
power — physieally, soclally and-fi-.
nancially — end that & lot of lnstitu-
tions ‘support that &rvengement. I
Xarwthisfeng before Thad the Words
- artien]ate {1, and Ebét ¥5ii learndd
SLyTung, W,:

Like many women, I had been
hareseed and pequally ascgulted by
the trse I way 'of collzgo ege. Bt 1
ket quiet — I didno¥ eirpect filing
‘complainta- to bring Justce. And I

:determi

J violence
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We have an apening naw to bolster
andbuild [asthrtiony; protective of

‘women. For sterters; Congress cap

reanthorize and strengthed the ¥io-

Jepce Against Women Act. Flost

passed in'1004;'the act {done of the
moaz effective pvlecu of legistalion
enacted to-fight domestie violmeo

-sywierns for peaple who repert atnise,

and provides fubdlig for rupe oristy
cenlers, Bsslitanct prograis
and ‘other critical services. It lm-

d:d.u’zmmvszﬂ'uufjcﬁm. proves responses by law enforce-
Thed two years.ngo, [ hecame & ment,andit prohibits dlscrimination
public figure representing domeste  against LGETQ survivors. Punding
lbue,n.ndl!dnhuﬁmfumeofmn {or the ect expired in Scptember and
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Questions arose as to whether [
wouldbeabletokeep myroleotMers
1n the muﬂu “urtce League® and

1 had mum:mwgewlnlnf
seeing, in'real time; how institutions’
protecy men gecused of abuse,

Imagine o powerful mwinn as a ship,
ke the Titante, That ghipie 2 huge
enterprise. When it ptrikes an'lee-
berg, there are’a Iot of people ‘on
board dezpersteto patch up holes —
not becanss they belleve in'or even
carepbout theghip, bulbécause thelr
own farzg depend on the enterprise.
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Y Io particular comsiinitles. In
every welk of [ife, womén, we con-
fronting these men wizo are buoyed
by soclud, economic and cultgral
power, And these institutions wre be-.
Eloning tochange.

Wearein n.mnsfomaﬂve politi-
cal moment. Tha president. of ‘our
oouniry by been accused by-more
than'a doten women Gf sexsl mis-
conduct, including: sssalt: and he-
razment. Cutrage over hly siate-
ments and behoyier b efergized &
female-led opposition. ¥8¢Tho start-
ed a conversation abott. just haw

Last moath,” Hduentlon’
Betsy DeVos proposcid. changes o
Title IX rules goveming the treat-
ment of sexual harassment and 03-
£aitin schools. While some changes
wonld meke the process for handling
enmp!llnu more fulr, otbers would
weiken protectiois oribenunl us-
sault sutvivors. Bor example, the new
rules would require schools to ioves-
tigate only the ‘mast extreme com-
plalnis, and then only when they are
madntodesiguated officials, Women
ag campuoses already bave trouble
coming forward ‘ebaut . sexval vig-
lence — why would we ellow institu-
tlons to scale back supports?

Iwrite this 25 o women whobad to
change my. phone mircher. wWeekly
because I was geiting death threats.
For mionths, 1 ramly Telt

zegres for mﬁudimﬁng compleintg,
Secretany

of ot spuii theni {n a iggatheelight. I
Feit as though. | wasien'trial In the
coursof publicopinion— and tmy [ife
end jiveliiood depended BA-myTiad
Judgmenta far beyond my control.

1 weunt 1o ensure that wornen wio
coras forward to 1k abot viclenso
rocelve more support. We aruelecting
representativiswho know how deep-
Ty wa care about these lasves, We calk
work together to demand changes to
laws and rules and zocial aorms -
and to righttheimbalances thathave
shaped our lives.
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Excerpled from waghingronp

Pay the women ingtead
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2018, It 13 the report that CBS doesm't
Intend to pay diggriced And dlsgracetal
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Incurring costs wpfront tu the form of
lawyers' fees. 1t a porverso incentlve
strutturethat glves companies millions
of reesomm kot 1o deal ¥ggTessively itk
male stars who harasatefy eo-workerd,

som.e companies havs bogun towrite
empleyment coritracts apeclfing that
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: racy, one that forelgn powers are only

. denied that speclfic groupa were'
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Racism is a

national security issue
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ubotii fugiian fotecforence in the
2018 &leekion Jrive: Beoh nothing
short of revélgtory,Doth studies = ooe
produced by researchers at Oxford Undver-
sity,the otherbythe cyberecurigy irm New
Eaowledgs — o I0: granalyy detail
Bow the Ruminn government tried to sow
dlecord and confislon wmong American
votars. And’ both conclide thar Russla’s
‘campalgn Lncluded 4 massive effort to de-
cefve -and co-opt African Ameriegny, Ve
now have uaassallibls confirmation that 4
forcizgn power saight 10 expiolt ractal ten-
aloris in the United States for its ovm gain,
Ever siuce U.5. lotilligeace agencies re-
poried that tho Rufsian govermnment
worked to gway the 1016 electlon, foreign
election med d}lnghubu:nouuofuur

Valley has yet to come to grips with the
enarmaus {nfuence it wields in our demoe-
racy, and the ways that forelam powers can
use that {nfluence to manipulafe Ameri-
cany Congress shoull tequire grester
trapsparency and responslhllity from theze
corporations before the 2020 elections,
Finally, we have to accept that foreign
-powerd gelze upon these divisions because
they ura real — beeause racism remaing the
United States” Achilles' heet. Indgad, it is,
and wiwnys has: been,.a natlanad searty
sulnersbillyy — & fuondustatal And eagly
wploiwable mality of Amcrican life tlht
heliss the ftwage sod Barmiiv of equaky
and justice we projeit and eaxpart around
the wotld. Tt tnay be especially difficedt ln
our ers of *fike news® and “wiernative
fects” but. We must recognize thar aur
fallure 1o neknowiedge bard wuths, espg-
clally whenit comes torace, makes it easier
for forelgn poweny to tam us oze
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ourdiscissions pbovit Russian interference
rarely tauch 6n the' gther major threst to

sored, voler mpptﬂ:io

ik
States. [n'light of theee distorbing pew
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Moving furwum. we nead.m remxu.ize that

chite Americans of ‘coloz:: Racial Irdusﬁu
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too
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How thould wa respond? First, we hove
to make it easier, not harder, for Americana
to #ote. Tnithe waks of the Supreme Court's
2013 Shaldy Counely decislon, which severe-
ly weaketied the Vollng RIghts Act, wa've
oo & reswrgense of voter-suppression o
foria scrass the tatdh, Congress has the
power to flx the Voring Rights Act. butgo far
1t haa detlined to do so. The revelations of
Russfa'¥ ruclal targeting should serve as a
wake-up ¢all thet Jomesde votet suppres-
shod; I nddition to being furdonal
effextively. alds forefgn attacks on our de-

|| mocracy. Indeed, we should take serigusly

tho danger that ‘dowiestic and foreign
groups moy coordinate to suppress tarmout.
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‘Hep. Termi A, Sowell (D-Ala) has already
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drawn from a "spec soript” thet just landed
in Hollywood. Ith & surnmary of two reports
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Amber Heard on Twitter: “Today | published this op-ed in the Washington Post about the women who are channsling their rage about vicla, ..

ln&\ Amber Heard &
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@realamberheard

Today I published this op-ed in the
Washington Post about the women who
are channeling their rage about violence
and inequality into political strength
despite the price of coming forward.

From college campuses to Congress,
we're balancing the scales.

bpinion | Amber Heard: | spoke up against sexual violence — and fa...

We have an opening now to bolster and build institutions protective of
women. Let’s not ignore it.

washingtonpost.com

1:28 PM - 19 Dec 2018

1,292 Retweets 3,556 Likes &8 9 @ @ @3 @ (5] g%, g

Q128 WO 1 3.6K
Amber Heard & @realamberheard - 19 Dec 2018 - v
I'm honored to announce my role as an @ACLU ambassador on women's rights.
Thea AL e bl Avaan imabimim dhat flurtk imrnivnd van da lacmcan A wabioicd aa T

https:/Awitter.com/realamberheard/status/10755032793232424867lang=en
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THE CIRCUIT COURT OF
FAIRFAX COUNTY

FACSIMILE TRANSMITT'AL SHEET

OCTORBER 4, 2005

TO:

‘limothy J. M¢Evoy, Esquire
Odin, Feldman, Pirtleman, PC
9302 Lee Highway, Suite 1100
Fuirfax, Virginia 220311214

Motion to Dismiss DENIED,

Danicl D, Williazas, Lsquire

Williams & Connglly:

725 Twelth Streag, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20005

(703) 218-2160 (Facsimile) (202) 434-5029 (Facsimilc)
Benjamin G, Chew, Bsquire Douglas L. Parker, Bsqire

Robert Luskdn Mooney, Green, Baker & Saindon, PC
Andrew Friedman 1920 L, Streer, N\, Suice 400
Parron Boggs, LLI® Washington, D.C. 20036

2550 M. Strest, N.W. (202) 783-6088 (Pacsimile)
Washington, D.C, 20037

(202) 457-6315 (liacsimile)

Jeanifer A, Short, Esqulee

Anand V. Ramanga, Esquire

Holland & Knight

1600 Tyson Boulevard, Suite 700

Mclean, Virginia 22102

(703) 720-8610 (Fecsimilc)

FROM: Robett M. Worster, 14, Law Clerk to the Honorable Randy I. Bellows
RYE: Massty Energy Co. v, United Mive Werkers, et al, Chracery No. 2005-3632.

FAX NUMBER 703-385-4432/ PHONE 703-246-2498 /3391

10/04/2005 TUE 15:13 [TX/RX ND 8087] @om
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NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF VIRGINIA

Fairfax County Judicial Center
4110 Chain Bridge Road
Falrfax, Virginia 22030-4009
{T03) 246-2221 Pt (705) 38544348

302 Lee Highway, Suite 1100
Raixfax, Virginia 22031-1214
#703) 218-2160 (Facsimile)

ennifer A. Short, Esquire
gnand V. Ramana, Bsquire

Wiclean, Virginia 22102
§703) 720-8610 (Facsimile)

Pear Counsel:

COUNTY OF FAIRFAX

§600 T'yson Boulevard, Suite 700

CITY OF FAIRFAX

Daniel D. Williams, Esquire
Williams & Contiolly

725 Twelth Street, N.W,
‘Washington, D.C, 20005
(202) 434-5029 (Facsimile)

Douglas L. Parker, Esquire

BURCH MILLSAP
BARKARD F VENNINGS
THOMAS J, MIDDLETON
THOMAS A, FORTKORT
QUINLAN H, HANCOTK
RICHARD J. JAMBOREKY
JAGK B, STEVENS
1, HOWAE BROWN
F. EAUGEPACH

RETHED JUDGEA

Mooney, Green, Baker & Saindon, PC

1920 L. Street, N,W. Suite 400

Washington, D.C. 20036
(202) 783-6088 (Facsimile)

Re:  Massey Energy Co. v. United Mine Workers, et al., Chancery No. 2005-3632.

d . This matter is before the Court on Defendant West Virginia Consumers for Justice and
Wefendant Kenneth Perdue’s motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. Partics

10/04/2005 TUE 15:13 [TX/RX NO B087] @002
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submitted briefs prior to the September 22, 2005 hearing, At the conclusion of oral argument,
the Court took the matter under advisement,

. ‘The Court has considered the briefs submitted, as well as the oral arguments, and finds
"Bhat it does have in personam jurisdiction over Defendants West Virginia Consumers for Justice
Rend Kenneth Perdue.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

a
.

Plaintiffs, Massey Energy Co. (“Massey”) and its chairman, chief executive officer, and
goresident Don Blankenship (“Blankenship"), operate mines in Virginia, West Virginia, and
Mentucky. Plaintiff Massey is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in
iRichmond, Virginia, Plaintiff Blankenship is 2 West Virginia resident.

Plaintiffs allege that Defendants conspired to defame and defamed Plaintiffs with the
purpose of injuring them in their trade, business, and profession, Plaintiffs allege that this was
flone via a defamatory television advertisement broadeast into West Virginia and Virginia, a
defamatory press release, and subsequently published articles containing that press release. The
substance of the defamatory statements is that Plaintiffs were responsible for contaminating West
§Virginia drinking water and unfairly terminating the employment and benefits of West Virginia
11ETR,

Plaintiffs brought this action against the union that issued the press release—United Mine
Workers of America (“UMWA”), the president of the UMW A—Cecil Roberts (“Roberts™), the
[927" pelitical organization that produced and paid for the television advertisement—West
§¥irginia Consumer’s for Justice (“WVCJI™), WVCJ’s chairman—Kenneth Perdue (“Perdue®),
kend the newspaper that included contents of the press release jn an article—The Dail y Gazette
K Company, Inc., doing business as The Charleston Gazette (“Gazette™), und Charleston
Newspapers, Ltd. doing business as The Charleston Gazette (“Gazette™). Although Plaintiffs
llege that the television station that broadcast the advertisernents (“WVNS Channel 59™) was
part of the conspiracy, Plaintiffs did not name it as a party,

Defendants WVCJ and Perdue moved the Court to dismiss for lack of personal
Mutisdiction on July 19, 2005. Plaintiffs appeared before the Court on August 26, 2005 and were
geranted leave to file an amended motion for judgment, discussed below. Plaintiffs filed an
hutended motion for judgment on September 9, 2005 end then filed an opposition to the motion
go dismiss on September 12, 2005. Defendants filed a reply memorandum on September 16,
FO00S. In this reply, Defendants responded to the new jurisdictiona ¢laims contained in the
jruended motion for judgment while argning that the amended motion for judgment was not
wroperly before the Court. This Court heard ora! argument on September 22, 2005.
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THE FILING OF THE ABIENDED MOTION FOR JUDGMENT

K In accordance with Rule 1.8, on August 26, 2005 Judge Smith issued an Order of {his
MCourtproviding that “Plamtxffs shall have twenty-onc (21) days in which to file an amended
gmotiof for judgment. wl

. Plaintiffs assert and Defendants do not dispute that Plaintiffs attempted to file its
Namended motion for judgment on September 9, 2005, However, the parlies disagree asto
Ewhether the August 26, 2005 Order granted Plaintiffs’ leave to amend as to Defendants WVCT
fand Perduo,

This Court “speaks through its orders and we presume that the orders acourately reflect
¥ what transplrcd ” Water;front Manne Constr. v. N. End 49ers Sandbridge Bulkhead (’roup.s' 4, B,

ﬁle an amendcd motion for judgment without limitation. Further, Defendants UMWA and
NRoberts adequately responded (o the contents of the amended motion for judgment belying any
iclaim of prejudice.

Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ amended motion for judgment will be considered as timely filed

I111. DISCUSSION
. A. Standard of Review: Personal Jurisdiction.

) While Plsintiffs ultimately bear the burden of proving this Court has personal jurisdiction
[ over each Defendant by a preponderance of the evidence, on a motion to dismiss Plaintiffs need

¥ only establish a prima facie case of personal jurisdiction. See MeNutt v. General Motors

B Acceptance Corp., 298 U.S. 178, 80 (1936); Rannoch, Inc. v. The Rannoch Corp., 52 F. Supp. 2d
§ 681, 684 (E.D. Va. 1999). The question “is one for the judge, with the burden on the plaintiff

H ultimately to prove the existence of a ground for jurisdiction by the preponderance of the

M evidence.” Combs v. Bakker, 886 F.2d 673, 676 (4th Cir. 1989),

" This Court must draw all reasonable inferences and resolve all factual disputes in

¥ Plaintiff’s favor. Eastersn Tech. Enters., Inc. v. Wilson & Hayes, Inc., 46 Va, Cir, 558, 560
(1997) (citing Mylan Labs., Ine. v. Akzo, N.V., 2 F.3d 56, 60 (4th Cir, 1993)). Whers, as here,
K Defendants submit affidavits denying allegations specifically pertaining to jurisdiction, “the

k so would allow defendants to ‘avoid personal jurisdiction simply by filing an affidavit denying

- | all jurisdictional facts.” Verizon Online Servs. v. Ralsky, 203 F. Supp. 2d 601, 609 (E.D. Va,

B 2002) (guoting CompuServe, 89 F.3d 1257, 1262 (“Dismissal in this procedural posture is proper
N only if all the specific facts which the plaintiff [] alleges collectively fail to state a prima facie

g case for jurisdiction.”); see also Professional Investors Life Ins. Co. v. Roussel, 445 F., Supp.

¥ ' Rule 1:8 provides that “[1Jsave to amend shall be liberally granted in furtherance of the ends of Justice.”
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ose related in Plaintiff’s complaint will be accepted as true, See Orangeburg Pecan Co. v.
Brarmers Inv, Co., 869 F, Supp. 351, 353 (D.8.C. 1994); Wolf v. Richmond City Hosp. Authority,
%745 F.2d 904, 908 (4th Cir, 1984),

The determination of whether personal jurisdiction exists over a nonresident defendant is
fa two step inquiry, “The first step in analyzing the exercise of personal jurisdiction is to
getermine whether Virginia’s long-arm statute reaches the non-resident defendant given the
peause of action alleged and the nature of the defendant’s Virginia contacts.” De Santis v, Hafner
(Crearions, Ine,, 949 F. Supp. 419, 422-23 (E.D. Va. 1996) (citations omitted). The second step
ks to ensure that, the exercise of in personam jurisdiction over a non-resident Defendant complies
§with the “due process requirements of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States

HConstitution.” Wil v. Reynolds Metals Co,, 240 Va, 452, 454 (1990).

. While there are two steps, “[b]ecause Virginia's long-arm statute extends personal
o urisdiction to the extent pennitted by the Due Process Clause . , , the statutory inquiry
gnecessarily merges with the constitutional inquiry, and the two inquities essentially become
one.” Young v. New Haven Advocate, 315 F.3d 256, 261 (4th Cir. 2002) (quotations omiited).
i The question, then, is whether the defendant has sufficient minimum contacts with [the forum]
#iich that the maintenance of the suit does not offend traditional notions of fair play and
gsubstantial justice.” Id. (quoting Int 'l Shoe Co., 326 U.S. at 316); Glumina Bank v. D. C.
jDiamond Corp., 259 Va. 312, 318 (2000),

The key factor in this inquiry is that “there be some act by which the defendant
Bourposefully avails itself of the privilege of conducting activities within the forum State, thus
finvoking the benefits and protections of its laws.” Hanson v. Denckla, 357 U.S. 235, 253 (1958).
fAccordingly, this Court must conduct a teipartite inquiry. First, did Defendants “purposefully
avail” themselves of the privilege of conducting activitics within Virginiz, Second, did the -
¥illeged defamation arise from Defendants’ alleged contacts with the Commonwealth, See
W hristion Sci. Bd. of Dirs, of the First Church of Christ, Scientist v. Nolan, 259 F.3d 209, 215
M(4th Cir. 2001). Third, did Defendants’ acts, or the consequences of those acts, “have a

i

gsubstantial enough connection with Virginia to render the exercise of jurisdiction over
gDcfendants ‘constitutionally reasonable.” Verizon Online Servs., 203 F. Supp. 2d at 611
quoting Christian Science Bd., 259 F.3d at 215).

gB. Personal Jurisdiction under Virginia’s Long-arm Statute.

Plaintiifs allege jurisdiction pursuant to subsections (A)1), (3), and (4) of Virginia's
yong-amn statute, Va. Code Ann, § 8.01-328.1. These provisions provide that:
A court may excrcise personal jurisdiction over a person, who acts
directly or by an agent, as to a cause of action arising from the
person’s!

I. Transacting any business in this Commonwealth;

3. Causing tortious injury by an aot or omission in this

Commonwealth;
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4. Causing tortious injury in this Commonwealth by an act or
omission outside this Commonwelth if ke regularly does
or solicits business, of engages in any other persistent
coutse of conduct, or derives substantial revenue from
Boods used or consumed or services rendered, in this
Commonwealth;

,

o When the long-arm statute is the sole basis for jurisdiction, the cause of action must arise
From the acts alleged. Va. Code § 8.01-328 (€.

1. Jurlsdiction Pursuant to § 8.01-328.1(A)(1)

‘ Plaintiffs assert that jurisdiction is proper over Defendants WVCJ and Perdue pursuant to
% 8.01-328.1(A)(1) because Defendants derived substantial revetue from Virginia and engaged
in a persistent course of conduct in Virginia. In determining jurisdiction, each Defendant’s
rdividual contacts with the forum must be assessed individually, See Keeton v, Hustler

; dagazine, ne,, 465 U.S. 770, 781 n.13 (1984) (holding that one acting in an official capecity

411l neither be shielded from, nor exposed to, suit merely because of such actions).,

Specifically, Plaintiffs allege that Dofendant WVCT “iransacted business” in Virginia by
Jobtaining™ donations tfom 2 Virginia organization—the UMWA—and by producing and
proadeasting advertiserents into Virginia via the West Virginia television station, Plaintiffs
her allege that these-donations were used, n part, to purchase the air time in which the
efamatory adveriisements were broadeast into the Comnionwealth. Next, Plaintiffs allege that
Lol the Defendants cotspired, including Virginia resident UMWA, to defume Plaintiffs
pecause Massey did not employ union Iabar? Last, Plaintiffs allege that Perdite personally
Mirected WVCI's activities, “caused tortious injuries to the Plaintiffs in Virginia, does businiess
B Virginia, and engaged in a.personal course of conduct in Virginia by directing WYCrs
ctivities, including obtaining donations from and: broadcasting defematory advertiséments into
Wirginia™ Additionally, Plaintiffs allege tlat Defendant Perdue has a ¢lose relationship with
W irginia resident UMWA as head of West Virginia’s AFL-CIO,

5

Defendants respond to these allegations contending that they did not “expressly aim [the]
Jdvertisernent at Virginia and did not expect its effects to be felt there,” Defendants further
glrgue that the alleged donations are insufficient to confer jurisdiction because Virginia law
ﬁ equires that a non-resident Defendant actually physically enter the Commonwealth and ciigage

¥ a business activity. Last, Defendants deny the existence or any participation in a conspiracy to
Befame Plaintitfs.

; Contrary to Defendants assertions, “[2] defendant need not ever physically enter Virginia
B connection with the disputed transaction . .. \” Mason v. Shirk & Shirk, 32 Va. Cir. 193, 195

D<tendent UMWA's hoadquarters are located at 8315 Loe Higlway, Fafrfax, Vicginia 22031,
AM.J, at §9.
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j(1993). As the Supreme Court of the Uhited States explained in Burger King Corp. v.
Rudzewicz,
Jurisdiction . . . may not be avoided merely becanse the defendant
did not physically enter the forum State. . . . [IJtis an inescapable
Tact of modem commerecial life that a substantial amount of
business is transacted solely by mail and wire communications
across state lines, thus obviating the need for physical presence
within a State in which business is conducted. So longasa
commercial actor's efforts are ‘purposefully directed’ toward
residents of another State, we have consistently rejected the notion
that an absence of physical contacts can defeat personal jurisdiction
there.
471 U.8. 462, 476 (1985) (citations omitted).

Whether Defendants WVCY and Perdue expressly aimed the advertisement at Virginia
kind whether Defendants individually engaged in o persistent course of conduct in Virginia are
Wlargely factual inquiries. This inquiry “bristles with factua] controversy . . . but the adjudication
#of factual disputes is not the present task of the court.” Designs88 Lid. P'ship v. Power Uptik
WProds., LL.C., 133 F. Supp, 2d 873, 875 (W.D. Va. 2001). Rather, “the court must draw all
preasonable inferences, and resolve all factual disputes in favor of the non-moving party.” 7d,
Nciting Mylan Laboratories, Inc., 2 ¥.3d at 60). At this stage, “plaintiff need not prove the entire

i

bease: but only make a ‘prima facic’ showing of the conspiracy. North Fork Shenandoah, Inc. v.
EBunning, 7 Va, Cir. 327, 331 (Va. Cir. Ct. 1986). Once this prima facie showing of conspiracy is
grdequately alleged, and where “co-conspirators have sufficient contacts with the forum, so that
xue process would not be violated,” these contacts are imputed against the foreign co-
gconspirator. Siu Ming Hong v. Chum Moon Tong, 61 Va. Cir. 439, 441 (Va, Cir. Ct. 2003)

¥quating Verizon Online Services v. Ralsky, 203 F, Supp. 2d 601, 622 (E.D. Va. 2002)).

: This Court is of the opinion that Plaintiffs have suffictently made a prima fucie case of

personal jurisdiction pursuant to § 8.01-328.1(A)(1) as to Defendants WVCJ and Perdue
pndividually. Additionally, Plaintiffs have made a sufficient prima facie showing of conspiracy
famong Defendants WVCJ and Perdue with Virginia resident UMWA giving rise to personal
purisdiction on this basis as well.

: The second step of the jurisdictional inquiry is whether exercising jurisdiction based on
fibese contacts satisfies the “due process requirements of (he Fourteenth Amendment to the
glnited States Constitution.” Witt v, Reynolds Matals Co., 240 Va. 452, 454 (1990).

_ Defendants argue that its contacts are “at best, sporadic” and insufficient to satisfy Due
gfrocess. While this Court observes that the alleged contacts between Defendants WVCJT and,
pgPerdue and this jurisdiction are limited in nature, they are sufficient to survive this jurisdictional

gchallenge. Furthermore, these minimum contacts are buttressed by allegations of a conspiracy
Kwith a Virginia resident,
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' Accordingly, this Coust is of the opinion that Plainfiff has sufficiently made a prima facie
gease of personal jurisdiction pursuant fo § 8,01-328.1(A)(1) as to Defendants WVCJ and Perdue
' Band has satisfied the constitutional requircments. of Due Process,

[F

2. Jurisdiction Pursuant to § 8.01-328.1(A)(3)

_ _ Plaintiffs next assert that jurisdiction is proper pursuant to § 8,01-328.1(A)(3) becanse
R ]aintiffs published a defamatory statement within Virginia via a television advertisement
goroadcast from West Virginia into Virginia,

“Under Virginia law, the necessary clements of the tort of defamation are (1) publication
gabout the plaintiff, (2) an actionable statement, end (3) the requisite intent.” Fleming v. Moore,
221 Va, 884 (1981); Chapin v. Greve, 787 F, Supp. 557, 562 (E.D. Va, 1992) {citing Michie’s
flurisprudence Libel & Slander § 12).

Publication is a required element of the tort of defamation and the injury from this tort
Joccuts where the defamatory statement is published. See Bochan v. La Fontalne, 68 F. Supp, 2d
R692, 698 (1999); Telco Communications v. An Apple a Day, 977 F. Supp. 404, 408 (E.D. Va.
41997). While this advertisement was broadeast in West Virginia to primarily 4 West Virginia
jaudience, Defendants concede that it reached homes within the Commonwealth, That the

B dvertiiement was broadcast into Virginia is alonc a sufficient basis of jurisdiction under the
statute,

] Froceeding to the next step of the jurisdictional analysis, whether exercising jurisdiction
Rsatisfies Due Process, this Court is guided by ESAB Group, Inc. v. Centricut, Inc., 126 F.3d 617,
362526 (4th Cir. 1997). There, the court explained that “although the place that the plaintiff
fecls the alleged injury is plainly relevant to the jurisdictional inquiry, it must ultimately be
faccompanied by the defendant’s own sufficient minimum contacts with the state if jurisdiction

e . .is to be upheld. Jd. Moreover, the specific statements must be analyzed to “determine
hether they were {published] with the intent to target a Virginia audience.” Young v. New
N/{aven Advocate, 315 F.3d 256, 262 (4th Cir, 2002).

Defendants WVCJ and Perdue contend that they have not purposefully availed
fthemselves of the laws and privileges of Virginia. Specifically, they assert that they purchased
gadvertising on a2 West Virginia television station with the sole purpose of reaching West

§ Sce Digital Equip. Corp. v. AltaVista Tech., 1997 U.S, Dist. LEXIS 3457 1, 20 (D, Mass. 1997) (“Numerous
Roourts have held that jurisdiction can be based on the broadeasting of a television pragram (or advertising) inta the
gionim state, when the cauise of action arises, ns it does heze, from the broadcast itself (insofar as broadcast {5
fruilogous to the malntenance of a Web-site accessible in a given state). See, v.g., Indianapolls Colts, Inc. v.
iiMéiropolitun Baltimore Football Club Ltd. Partnership, 34 F.3d 410, 412 {7th Cir. 1994) (holding television
joroadeast into Indiana supports persons] Jurisdiction aver defendant there); Holmes v. TF-3, 141 FR.D. 692, 696
L(W.D. La, 1991) (same); Viacom Intl, Inc. v, Three Star Telecast, Inc., 639 P, Supp. 1277, 1280 (D.P.R. 1986)
K(sxme); Thomas Jackson Publishing, Inc. v, Buckner, 625 F. Supp. 1044, 1046 (D. Neb, 1985) (same); Tonka Corp.
: . IMS Entertainment, Inc., 638 F. Supp, 386, 390-91 (D. Minn. 1985) (same); Unired Medical Laboratories, Inc. v.
fiCBS, Inc., 256 F, Supp, 570, 572 (D. QOre. 1966) (holding Walter Cronkits, producer of a telavision news prograrm,
wsubject to personal jurisdiction based on the broadcast of the program into Oregom),"), Contra Dagesse v. Plant

Rilotel N, V., 2000 DNH 9 (DN 2000} (holding that television advertisements did 110t constitute continuous and
Syislematic contacts),
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irginian viewers in an effort to influence the West Virginia election. Defendants charactt‘arize
ithe fact that the television signal entered Virginia as coincidental and de minimis and certainly
pnot purpeseful conduct directed at the Commonwealth.

To the contrary, Plaintiffs argue that Defendants undoubtedly knew that the television

mund print advertisements would reach Virginia homes. Therefore, it was foreseeable that these

fdefamatory messages would be published or republished within Virginia, As such, Defendants
must have reasonably expected to be haled inlo 2 Virginia court.’

i Essentially, Plaintiffs rely on the rationale explained in Calder v. Jones, 465 U.8. 783
§(1984) and Keeton v. Hustler Mugazine, Inc., 465 U.8. 770, 781 (1984). In Calder, the Supreme
= Court held that Defendants who published a defamatory statement in a foreign jurisdiction
ishould “anticipate being haled into court” in that foreign jurisdiction to “answer for the truth of
ftheir staternents,” 465 .S, at 789-90. Similarly, in Keeton, the Supreme Court held that
2"[t]here is no unfairness in calling {defendant] to answer for the contents of [a] publication

g wherever a substantial number of copies are regulatly sold and distributed, 465 U.S. 781,

This Court expressed a similar rationale in Malcolm v. Esposito, holding that where a
fDefendant “consciously decided to transmit advertising information” outside of the jurisdiction,
i he “must have been able to foresee the possibility of being haled into court” outside of its own

Istate. 63 Va. Cir. 440, 446 (2003) (C.J. McWeeny).

‘ Here, Defendants are alleged to have caused a defamatory advertisement to be broadcast
flinto the Commonwealth via a television station that regularly broadcast into the Commonwealth..
8 Defendants must have foreseen the possibility that they would be haled into a Virginia court.

4 This Commonwealth clearly possesses the “power to exercise judicial jurisdiction over an
findividual who has done, or has caused to be done, an act in the state with rospect to any claim in
y tort arising from the act.” Verizon Online Servs., 203 F, Supp. 2d at 617 (citing .

I RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF CONFLICT OF LAWS § 36(1) (1988)). Moreaver, the

i Commmonwealth has a vital interest in providing a forum to those aggrieved by alleged

W tortfeasors, See Idefense Inc. v. Dick Tracy Group, 58 Va. Cir, 138, 143 (2002).

Accordingly, this Court is of the opinion that Plaintiff hus sufficiently made a prima facie
j case of personal jurisdiction pursuant to § 8.01-328.1(A)(3) as to Defendants WVCJ and Perdue
1 and has satisficd the constitutional requirements of Due Process.

|
v

3. Jurisdiction Pursuant to § 8.01-328,1(A)(4)

Plaintiffs next assert that jurisdiction is proper pursuant to § 8.01-328.1(A)(4). Section

¥ 8.01-328.1(A)(4) provides for jurisdiction whers a Defendant causes “tortious injury in this
Commonwealth by an act or omission outside this Commonwealth.” Jd. To allege jurisdiction

§ under this provision Plaintiffs must first allege that Defendants caused a tort in Virginia by an act

8 * The Court recognizes that the parties dispule the exact number of honschold reached by the television

% advartisements. Plaintiffs allege that as many as 18,000 Virginia households wers reached by the television
d statlons’ signal, ‘Tr, of Sept, 22, 2005 Hr'g at p. 17. Defendants contend that the number is closer to 1,980
B households, Tr. of Sept. 22, 2005 Hr'g atp, 9. Either way, this contact is not d¢ minimis,
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K West Virginia. Plaintiffs have clearly alleged that Defendants caused the tort of defamation to
B cnr within Virginia by purchasing and producing the advertisement in West Virginia.

" Next, Plaintiffs must allege that Defendants either: 1) regularly conducted or solicited
Business; 2) engaged in any other persistent course of conduct; or 3) derived substantial revenue
grom goods used ot consumed or services rendered in Virginia,

; Defendants argue that Plaintiffs have failed to adequately allege that Defendants: 1)
Beoularly conducted or solicited business in Virginia; 2) engaged in any other persistent course of
ondtict in Virginia; or 3) derived substantial revenue from goods used or consumed or services
fendered in Virginia, Specifically, Defendants claim that Plaintiffs are using circular reasoning

Ahttempting to show a persistent course of conduct and regular business by relying on the very
fidvertisements at issue.

g The statutory language of § 8.01-328.1(A)(4) requires that the Defendant be “engaged in
fany. other persistent course of conduct in Virginia” (erophasis added). The plain langnage of the
Rword “other” requires a “persistent course of conduct which is separate and distinct from the

% riious actions that form the basis of the cause of action,” Reiner v. Lee; 1994 WL 1031245
¥Va, Cir. Ct.) (J. Wooldridge). Plaintiffs have failed to allege such a persistent course of conduct
gas to Defendant WVC]. In contrast, Plaintiffs have alleged that Defendant Perdue “derives
sufficient revenue™ from “services he provided to Defendants UMWA and Roberts™ and that
PDcfendant Perdue has engaged in 2 persistent coursc of conduct because he “maintains strong
fliics” to Defendants UMWA and Roberts in Virginia.®

- Plaintiffs have also advanced a “conspiracy theory” of personal jurisdiction among all of
e Defendants, Plaintiffs assert that jurisdiction is proper based upon the Virginia contacts and

3 connections of WVCI’s co-conspirators, specifically Defendants UMWA and Roberts. Siu Ming
® Hong v. Chum Moon Tong, 61 Va. Cir. 439, 441 (Va, Cir. Ct. 2003); Verizon Online Services v.
Ralsky, 203 F. Supp. 2d 601, 622 (E.D, Va, 2002),

‘ This Court is persuaded that Plaintiffs have sufficiently made a prima facie case of
f personal jurisdiction pursuant to § 8.01-328(A)(4) as to Delendants WVCJ and Perdue and have
} satisfied the constitutional requirements of Due Process.

&

S AM.L at 9 10.
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®. CONCLUSION

Defendants WVCJ and Perdue’s contacts with the Commonwealth satisfy due process
god the Virginia Long-arm statute such that the exercise of long-arm jurisdiction is
fonstitutionally permissible. This Court finds that it does have in personam jurisdiction over
pefendants WYCJ and Perdue. Accordingly, Defendant’s motion to dismiss is denied,

An Order embodying this decision has been entered.

Sincerel

10
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF FAIRFAX COUNTY

SEY ENERGY CO.,, ¢t al., )
Plaintiffs, ) .
: . )] AtLaw No. CL 2005-3632
URITED MINE WORKERS OF )
ARTERICA, et al, )
§  Defendants. )
ORDER

This case came before the Court on Defendant West Virginia Consumers for Justice and
fendang Kenneth Perdue’s motlon to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction

For the reasons articulated in the accompanying Opinion entered today, Plaintiffs’ Motion is

ENTERED this 4th day of October, 2005.

Randy 1. Bellows
Circuit Court Judge

UNDORSEMENT OF THIS ORDER BY COUNSEL OF RECORD FOR 'THE PARTIES 1§ WALVED IN THE
PISCRETION OF THE COURT PURSUANT TO RULE 1:13 OF THE SUPREME COURT OF VIRGINIA.

TGTAL P.12
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